FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/28/2023 2:56 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 101845-2
COURT OF APPEALS NO. 83563-7-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ENVOLVE PHARMACY SOLUTIONS, INC.,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Petitioner.

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

CHARLES ZALESKY, WSBA 37777 Assistant Attorney General PO Box 40123 Olympia WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5515 OID No. 91027

I. INTRODUCTION

Since its enactment in 1935, the business and occupation (B&O) tax has included an exemption for insurance businesses that pay gross premiums tax under the insurance code. The Legislature expressed its intent that payment of premiums tax is "in lieu of" other state taxes. RCW 48.14.080. To accomplish that intent, the Legislature exempted from B&O tax "[a]ny person in respect to insurance business upon which a tax based on gross premiums is paid to the State of Washington." Laws of 1935, ch. 180, § 11(c) (codified in RCW 82.04.320(1)). This Court addressed the exemption in Armstrong v. State, 61 Wn.2d 116, 377 P.2d 409 (1962), emphasizing the "in lieu of" nature of the premiums tax and the legislative purpose of preventing imposition of both the B&O tax and insurance premium tax on the same premium income.

Respondent Envolve Pharmacy Solutions, Inc. (Envolve) is not an insurance business and pays no premiums tax to the state. Nevertheless, it claims entitlement to the insurance

business exemption by virtue of the fact that it provides pharmacy benefit management services to an affiliated health maintenance organization (HMO) that pays a gross premiums tax to the state. Envolve argues, and the Court of Appeals below agreed, that the insurance business exemption is broad enough to allow a non-insurer to escape B&O tax if it provides services to an insurance business (or, in this case, an HMO) so long as those services are "required to be performed under the insurance contract." Slip op. at 13. The result is that Envolve pays no state business activity tax at all: no gross premiums tax and no B&O tax.

The Court of Appeals badly misconstrued the statute, ignoring its actual language and sidestepping controlling authority from this Court addressing the exemption's purpose and "in lieu of" nature. Importantly, the phrase "required to be performed under the insurance contract" is found nowhere in the statute's language, and the Court's decision to add that phrase to the statue creates a means for non-insurers like

Envolve to escape all state taxation of its business activity. This is so even though this Court explained in *Armstrong* that the Legislature did not intend to create the "unique" circumstance where a business can "pay[] no state tax[] whatever, while everyone else engaged in business would be paying" either the premiums tax or the B&O tax. 61 Wn.2d at 122. The decision below is contrary to *Armstrong* and merits review.

Moreover, the Court casually brushed aside decades of settled law holding that affiliated businesses are separate entities for tax purposes by opening the exemption to both affiliated and unaffiliated businesses that contracts with insurers. And its "double taxation" policy argument conflicts with a 1934 decision that rejected the very same argument. These inconsistencies and conflicts also merits review.

Finally, the decision below will have far-reaching effects beyond merely granting Envolve a tax refund. Applied literally, the Court of Appeals has sanctioned a B&O tax exemption for any business that provides services to an insurance company or

HMO when those services are contractually "required" to be performed. Due to that massive change in the state's tax policy—without any input from the Legislature—the issue presented is one of substantial public interest meriting review.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Department of Revenue seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published decision, *Envolve Pharmacy Solutions, Inc.*v. Department of Revenue, No. 83563-7-I, ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, 524 P.3d 1066 (Feb. 27, 2023). A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

RCW 82.04.320 provides a B&O tax exemption for insurance business upon which a tax based on gross premiums is paid to the state. Does that exemption also apply to Envolve, which is not an insurance business and paid no premiums tax in lieu of B&O tax, merely because Envolve provided services required under a contract with an HMO that paid a premiums tax to the state?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Board of Tax Appeals Rejects Envolve's Effort to Exempt All of its Gross Income from B&O Tax

Envolve is a pharmacy benefit management company that manages its clients' prescription drug benefit programs. CP 22 (Board Finding of Fact # 1). During the 2012 through 2015 periods at issue, Envolve received most of its gross income from providing pharmacy benefit management services to Coordinated Care Corporation (Coordinated Care), which is an HMO that managed Washington's "Basic Health" and "Healthy Options" Medicaid programs. CP 22-23 (Finding of Fact # 2, 3, & 4). As an HMO, Coordinated Care paid "premiums and prepayments tax" on its health care premium income. *See* RCW 48.14.0201 (imposing premiums and prepayment tax on certain health care service providers, including HMOs).¹

¹ The premiums and prepayments tax is separate from the insurance premiums tax imposed by RCW 48.14.020. *See infra* at pages 14 and 15 (contrasting insurance premiums tax with the premiums and prepayments tax). Taxpayers that pay the premiums and prepayments tax are exempt from B&O tax under RCW 82.04.322.

Envolve is not an insurance business or HMO, and pays no gross premiums tax to the state. Instead, in 2012, it began paying B&O tax under the "service and other" reporting category. CP 23 (Finding of Fact # 5). However, rather than reporting the actual gross income it received from its in-state business activity, Envolve reported only the net amount it earned after taking an unauthorized deduction equal to the amounts it paid to participating pharmacies for the cost of dispensed drugs. *See generally* CP 1029 (memo from Envolve's accountants explaining that the company paid B&O tax only on the "delta" between what it received for its services and "the costs paid to the pharmacies").

The Department uncovered and denied Envolve's unauthorized deduction, CP 1050, resulting in an assessment of underreported B&O tax for the January 2012 through June 2015 tax reporting periods. CP 1043; CP 1058.

Envolve did not challenge the denial of its unauthorized deduction. Instead, the company filed an administrative appeal

and related refund claim with the Department, arguing that it was entitled to exclude all of its gross income from B&O tax under the insurance business exemption. Although none of Envolve's gross income had been subject to premiums tax, the company asserted that it qualified for the exemption under the terms of a letter ruling that the Department issued to Envolve's parent company. In that letter ruling (the "Centene letter ruling"), the Department suggested that a business paying no premiums tax could claim the insurance business exemption on income the company received for providing administrative services to an affiliated insurance business. CP 1018.

The Department gave Envolve the benefit of the Centene letter ruling, lowering the tax assessment for amounts Envolve could tie to administrative fees it received from Coordinated Care. CP 1073-77. Envolve, however, was dissatisfied with the revised audit results, contending that all of its gross income should be exempt. The Department's Administrative Review and Hearings Division (ARHD) rejected the claim, explaining

that the Department had previously allowed affiliates of an insurance business to claim the insurance business exemption only with respect to income from providing "[g]eneral administrative services such as accounting, personnel and data processing" CP 1088 (quoting Determination No. 88-311A, 9 WTD 293, 297 (1990)). By contrast, the Department had not allowed affiliates of insurance businesses to exclude amounts derived from non-administrative services such as providing health care services or "maintaining a network of pharmacies." Id. at 1090. ARHD then concluded that Envolve had offered no valid reason for the Department to depart from its prior practice, and that the Department's auditor had properly applied the Centene letter ruling. CP 1091-92.

Still dissatisfied, Envolve filed an appeal with the Board of Tax Appeals, again asserting that all of its service income should be exempt from B&O tax. Once discovery was complete, Envolve and the Department filed cross-motions for summary judgment. The Board granted the Department's

motion and denied Envolve's motion, concluding that Envolve had failed to establish that it was entitled to avoid B&O tax on all its service income. CP 27 (Conclusion of Law # 9).

B. The Board's Decision is Reversed on Appeal

Envolve appealed the Board's decision under the Administrative Procedure Act, claiming that the Board erred in granting summary judgment to the Department. CP 1. The trial court reversed the Board's decision, concluding that all of Envolve's service income was exempt from B&O tax under the insurance business exemption. The trial court did not address the holding or analysis in *Armstrong*, concluding instead that a published Department tax determination, Determination No. 88-311A, "is a reasonable interpretation of RCW 82.04.320." CP 1439 (Superior Court Conclusion of Law # 7). The Court of Appeals affirmed. Slip Op. at 16.

V. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court conflicts with this Court's decision in *Armstrong*, which

addressed the language and purpose of the insurance business exemption. It also expands the exemption in a manner that effectively avoids an unbroken line of cases like *Rena-Ware Distributors, Inc. v. State*, 77 Wn.2d 514, 463 P.2d 622 (1970), holding that affiliated entities are treated as separate persons under the B&O tax code and cannot claim a tax benefit based on their relationship to another taxpayer. Additionally, the decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Supply Laundry Co. v. Jenner*, 178 Wash. 72, 34 P.2d 363 (1934), which rejected the very same "double taxation" argument the Court of Appeals relied on below.

Moreover, and perhaps more importantly, the Court of Appeals fundamentally changed how the insurance business exemption works. In practical effect, the Court rewrote the statute to permit the payment of a gross premiums tax by an insurer or HMO to exempt not only the insurer or HMO from B&O tax on their premium income, but all businesses that

provide "contractually required" services to the insurer or HMO.

Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) is warranted to bring the B&O tax exemption back in line with its actual language and with this Court's prior decisions.

A. History and Application of the Insurance Business Exemption

Washington imposes a B&O tax upon every person "for the act or privilege of engaging in business activities" in the state, RCW 82.04.220, with "business" broadly defined to include "all activities engaged in with the object of gain, benefit, or advantage to the taxpayer or to another person or class, directly or indirectly." RCW 82.04.140. Emphasizing the broad reach of the B&O tax, this Court has explained that the tax applies unless an express deduction or exemption exists. *Dot Foods, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 185 Wn.2d 239, 245, 372 P.3d 747 (2016). One such exemption is the insurance business exemption. RCW 82.04.320. Like all tax exemptions, the insurance business exemption is construed narrowly to avoid

revenue losses that the Legislature did not anticipate or approve. *Lacey Nursing Ctr., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 128 Wn.2d 40, 49-50, 905 P.2d 338 (1995).

As originally enacted, the exemption provided in relevant part that B&O tax "shall not apply to ... [a]ny person in respect to insurance business upon which a tax based on gross premiums is paid to the State" Laws of 1935, ch. 180, § 11(c). The statute has been amended on occasion, but its core language has remained unchanged. *See* RCW 82.04.320(1).

The Legislature did not define the term "insurance business." The term, however, was generally understood to mean a business "subject to control under the insurance statutes" that writes insurance contracts specifying "an 'insurer,' an 'insured,' a 'premium,' and a 'beneficiary." *State v. Globe Casket & Undertaking Co.*, 82 Wash. 124, 129, 128, 143 P. 878 (1914); *see also State v. Universal Serv. Agency*, 87 Wash. 413, 423-24, 151 P. 768 (1915) (an insurance contract requires "(1) An insurer; (2) a consideration; (3) a person

insured or his beneficiary; (4) a hazard or peril insured against whereby the insured or his beneficiary may suffer loss or injury").²

A company meeting the understood meaning of an "insurance business" was subject to insurance premiums tax on "the gross premiums received from business in Washington." *Armstrong*, 61 Wn.2d at 120. That tax, codified at RCW 48.14.020, applies to "each authorized insurer except title insurers and registered eligible captive insurers" at the rate of two percent of all premiums collected or received during the prior calendar year. RCW 48.14.080(1). As noted in *Armstrong*, the tax is "in lieu of" other state taxes. 61 Wn.2d at 120 (quoting RCW 48.14.080). The insurance business exemption

² The term "insurance business" has a similar meaning under current law. *See* RCW 48.01.050 (defining "insurer" to "include[] every person engaged in the business of making contracts of insurance, other than a fraternal benefit society"); RCW 48.01.040 (defining "insurance" as "a contract whereby one undertakes to indemnify another or pay a specified amount upon determinable contingencies").

in the B&O tax code prevents the imposition of both taxes on an insurer's premium income.

The meaning of "insurance business" in 1935 did not include what we today would call health care benefit plans or HMOs; *i.e.*, businesses that contract for healthcare services on behalf of their members. *Universal Serv. Agency*, 87 Wash. at 424. These types of healthcare service businesses did not become subject to regulation under the state insurance code until 1975, and were not subject to a gross premiums tax until 1993. *See* Laws of 1975, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 290 (enacting the Washington Health Maintenance Organization Act, codified as RCW 48.46); Laws of 1993, ch. 492, § 301(2) (enacting the "premiums and prepayments tax" on health care premiums, codified in RCW 48.14.0201(2)). Thus, HMOs are not

³ Although HMOs were regulated under the insurance code starting in 1975, the Legislature was careful to distinguish HMOs from insurance businesses. *See, e.g.,* Laws of 1975, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 290, § 12(1) ("No health maintenance organization may refer to itself in its name or advertising with any of the words: 'insurance', 'casualty', 'surety', 'mutual', or

insurance businesses, do not owe the insurance premiums tax, and cannot claim the insurance business exemption. Instead, the Legislature in 1993 enacted a different B&O tax exemption for HMOs that pay the premiums and prepayment tax. *See* RCW 82.04.322 ("This chapter does not apply to any health maintenance organization ... in respect to premiums or prepayments that are taxable under RCW 48.14.0201.").

The Department of Revenue administers the B&O tax, but not the insurance premiums tax or the premiums and prepayments tax, which are administered by the Insurance Commissioner. In any event, even though the premiums tax on insurance business is imposed only on "premiums ... collected or received by the insurer," RCW 48.14.020(1), the Department of Revenue issued a published tax determination in 1990 allowing an insurer that paid insurance premiums tax to exclude from B&O tax not only its premium income, but also other

any other words descriptive of the insurance, casualty, or surety business") (codified in RCW 48.46.110(1)).

gross income earned from incidental services provided to an affiliated insurance business. That tax determination,

Determination No. 88-311A, 9 WTD 293 (1990) (copy attached as Appendix B), is central to Envolve's legal arguments and the Court of Appeals analysis, forming the basis for the Court's understanding of the "plain language" of the insurance business exemption. Slip Op. at 12.

The Department withdrew Determination No. 88-311A from publication in 2019 because it improperly expanded the insurance business exemption to untaxed "functionally related" services performed by an insurer. Excise Tax Advisory 3133.2022 at 2.4 The Determination was also being misapplied as authority allowing non-insurers paying no premiums tax to claim that their gross income from service performed for affiliated insurance businesses was exempt.

⁴ Available on-line at https://taxpedia.dor.wa.gov/documents/current%20eta/3133.202 2.pdf.

B. The Court of Appeals' Interpretation of the Insurance Business Exemption Conflicts with *Armstrong*

The Court of Appeal construed the insurance business exemption as permitting a non-insurer (Envolve) to avoid B&O tax on its in-state service activity so long as the service was "required to be performed under [an] insurance" contract with an entity that pays a gross premiums tax to the state. Slip Op. at 13. That holding finds no support in the actual words of the exemption, and conflicts with this Court's statutory analysis in *Armstrong*.

The plain meaning of a statute "is to be discerned from the ordinary meaning of the language at issue, the context of the statute in which that provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n*, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010) (quoting *State v. Engel*, 166 Wn.2d 572, 578, 210 P.3d 1007 (2009)). Moreover, it is fundamental error to add words to a statute in the guise of ascertaining its plain meaning. *Id*.

In *Armstrong*, this Court read the insurance business exemption in light of two related statutes, RCW 48.14.020 (imposing the insurance premiums tax) and RCW 48.14.080 (making the premiums tax "in lieu of" other state taxes). Armstrong, 61 Wn.2d at 120. Although the issue in Armstrong involved a constitutional challenge to the B&O tax exemption, which did not apply to independent agents or representatives of insurance companies, this Court grounded its analysis in the language and purpose of the statute. Construed as a whole and in light of the related statutes, the Court concluded that the Legislature acted rationally when it tied the exemption to the payment of a gross premiums tax to the state. "The legislative decision to consider the gross premium tax as the exclusive tax on insurance company operations ... does not mean that it is necessary for the legislature to grant an exemption to general agents who are in business for themselves." *Id.* at 121-22.

The Court of Appeals rejected this Court's analysis, asserting that *Armstrong* is inapt. Slip Op. at 15. Instead, it held

(contrary to *Armstrong*) that the statute's plain language does not require the person claiming the exemption to pay a state tax on its gross premiums. *Id.* at 11. The Legislature in 1935 wrote the insurance business exemption in passive voice, which the Court of Appeals could have cited as supporting a finding that the statute is ambiguous. But in light of the holding and statutory analysis in *Armstrong*, which upheld the Legislature's rational decision to tie the exemption to payment of an "in lieu of" gross premiums tax to the state, the Court of Appeals' assertion that the statute "plainly" does not require the taxpayer to pay a premiums tax in lieu of B&O tax is untenable.

The Court of Appeals also erred when it looked to the Department's 1990 tax determination as support for its plain language analysis. Where a statute is plain on its face, courts glean legislative intent from the "words of the statute itself, regardless of contrary interpretation by an administrative agency." *Tesoro Refin. & Mktg. Co. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 173

Wn.2d 551, 556, 269 P.3d 1013 (2012); accord Bostain v. Food Express, Inc., 159 Wn.2d 700, 715-16, 153 P.3d 846 (2007).

Additionally, and more importantly, even if a Department tax determination issued in 1990 could possibly help ascertain the plain meaning of an exemption enacted in 1935, the Court of Appeals misread that tax determination. When read correctly, the determination does not remotely support the Court's interpretation that the insurance business exemption applies to gross income from services "required to be performed under the insurance contract."

The Department's holding in Determination No. 88-311A was quite narrow. It held that an insurance company *that paid insurance premium tax* could exclude from B&O tax amounts received for providing incidental services to affiliated insurance businesses. CP 350 (Appendix B. at p. 6). The taxpayer was not seeking to avoid paying both premiums tax and B&O tax on all of its gross income, as is the case with Envolve.

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