# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/30/2023 3:54 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1018452

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### ENVOLVE PHARMACY SOLUTIONS, INC.,

Respondent,

v.

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE

Appellant.

## ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brett S. Durbin, WSBA No. 35781 Callie A. Castillo, WSBA No. 38214 Daniel A. Kittle, WSBA No. 43340 LANE POWELL LLC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 Seattle, WA 98101-2375 Telephone: 206.223.7000

Attorneys for Envolve Pharmacy

Solutions, Inc.

Facsimile: 206.223.7107

####

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

#### CP 304 (emphasis added).

The Determination provided no explanation for why some of Envolve's activities were "incidental to accomplishing the insurance function" and why some were not, even though all of them are required to be performed under the HCA Contract and the insurance regulations. *Id.* On reconsideration, the Department affirmed the Audit Division's assessment. CP 308.

#### 3. Board of Tax Appeals Proceeding

After the Department issued its final decision, Envolve filed a notice of appeal with the Board of Tax Appeals, asserting that the amounts it received were for services functionally related to Coordinated Care's insurance business under both the 2013 Letter Ruling and the Department's published determination, Determination 88-311A, 9 WTD 293 (1990). CP 1287-88.

In September 2020, Envolve and the Department filed cross-motions for summary judgment with the Board of Tax Appeals on the issue of whether the B&O tax applied to amounts Envolve received from Coordinated Care for PBM Services under RCW 82.04.320. CP 11. The Department's arguments primarily revolved around its assertion that the prior precedent related to the insurance business exemption was incorrect and that Envolve could not qualify for the exemption because it was not an insurance company that paid premiums tax. CP 26.

The Board of Tax Appeals issued a decision in February 2021, finding that Envolve was entitled to rely on the Department's prior precedent that any activities that were "functionally related" to insurance qualified as "insurance business" activities exempt from B&O tax under RCW 82.04.320. CP 59. However, the Board reasoned that Envolve actually provides "pharmacy services," which the Board asserted are "healthcare services, and not within the definition of insurance, and not covered by the functionally related test." *Id*.

Because the Board believed that Envolve had already received the exemption for the activities that were acknowledged to be functionally related, it granted summary judgment to the Department. CP 58-60.

Envolve filed a motion for reconsideration, pointing out that it did not provide pharmacy services to Coordinated Care and that it was not licensed to provide pharmacy services in Washington. CP 33. Envolve also pointed out that the Board's decision was contrary to its prior decision in *Wellpartner v. Dep't of Revenue*, BTA Dkt. 10-228 (2011), where the Board held that a pharmacy benefit manager is "engaged in insurance administration activity. *It is not providing a health care service* to the enrollees of the [health plan]." (emphasis added). CP 34.

The Board of Tax Appeals issued a Corrected Final Decision on March 23, 2021, refusing to reconsider its conclusion and merely amending Conclusion of Law No. 7 to add the term "benefit management" between the words

"pharmacy" and "service." CP 26. The rest of the decision remained the same, and the Board dismissed Envolve's appeal.

#### C. Judicial Review

On review before King County Superior Court, the Department did not defend the Board's conclusion that Envolve's pharmacy benefit management services are health care services. Instead, the Department maintained that its prior administration of the statute was erroneous, and that the Board's decision should be upheld on the ground that Envolve was not an insurance company that paid premiums tax. CP 1397-98. The Superior Court reversed the Board's order, holding that: (i) the Department's prior administration of the statute was consistent with the statutory language; and (ii) Envolve's activities were insurance business activities exempt under RCW 82.04.320. CP 1440.

The Department then filed an appeal with the Court of Appeals seeking a reversal of the Superior Court's order. The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that Envolve's activities

qualified as insurance business upon which a premiums tax had been paid. Op. at 11-13.

#### IV. REASONS TO DECLINE REVIEW

This case does not satisfy the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) for this Court's review. The Court of Appeals applied the plain language of the statute to the particular facts of this case, consistent with this Court's decisions. Moreover, by reaffirming the validity of the framework that the Department used to administer the statute for almost 30 years, in which the Legislature silently acquiesced, the Court of Appeals' Opinion does not create an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

#### A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied the Plain Language of RCW 82.04.320 to Envolve's Facts Consistent with the Statute's Historical Treatment

The Department's criticisms of the Court of Appeals'

Opinion are largely based on the false premise that Envolve

cannot qualify for the exemption on its own because the term

"insurance business" is limited to insurance companies that issue

contracts and pay premiums tax on the premiums they collect. *See* Petition for Review ("Pet.") at 12 (equating "insurance business" with an insurance company that issues policies regulated by insurance statutes).

In its Opinion, the Court of Appeals correctly observed that the Department's position conflicts with the plain language of the statute, as the exemption applies to "any person in respect to insurance business upon which a tax based on gross premiums is paid to the state." Op. at 11 (citing RCW 82.04.320) (underlining in original). The statute does not require that the entity claiming the exemption must be the same entity that paid the premiums tax. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals based its decision on the holding that a "fair reading of 'insurance business' in RCW 82.04.320 includes more than the administrative task of issuing contracts and collecting premiums." Op. at 12. This holding is consistent with the Washington insurance statutes broadly defining "insurance transaction" to include the "transaction of matters

subsequent to the execution of the contract and arising out of it." RCW 48.01.060. Moreover, it is consistent with this Court's decision in *Kruger Clinic Orthopaedics*, 157 Wn.2d at 302, which held that regulation of health carrier's contracts with providers is part of the business of insurance.

The holding is also consistent with the Department's administration of the statute for almost 30 years. In asserting that the Court of Appeals' Opinion radically expands the exemption beyond its historic roots,<sup>5</sup> the Department ignores both its own internal contemporaneous analysis of Determination 88-311A and the holding in *Factory Mutual Engineering Ass'n v. State*, No. 15195-2-II, 70 Wn. App. 1057, 1993 WL 13142655 (July 19, 1993), which reached almost exactly the same conclusion as the Court of Appeals reached in *Envolve*.

First, the Department claims Determination 88-311A was narrowly applied to insurance companies that paid premiums.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Pet. at 28.

Pet. at 20. But that is simply incorrect. Shortly after issuing Determination 88-311A, the Department's Interpretations and Appeals Division sent the Department's Audit Division a memo clarifying the application of Determination 88-311A to non-insurance affiliates:

It is the position of the Interpretation and Appeals Division that the "functionally related," test articulated in Final Det. No. 88-311A and Final Det. No. 89-259A does not require that the affiliate receiving the services be an insurance company actually selling insurance. Services to an affiliate are functionally related if the business of the affiliate exists to further the insurance function of an insurance selling company within the affiliated group of companies.

If you recall, an affiliate for purposes of applying the test is any company which is majority owned or controlled by a common parent or owner. The purpose behind the test is to read the exemption from the B&O tax for insurance business to include all activities of an affiliated group of companies which are an integral part of the insurance sales business. The exemption should not be denied just because an insurance company chooses to conduct the various aspects of its insurance business activities through different affiliated legal entities.

CP 371 (underlining in original). The Department reaffirmed this reading in 2005 when it issued Determination 05-0341, ruling that the B&O tax deduction in RCW 82.04.320 is not limited to only companies licensed to sell insurance. CP 372. Therefore, the Department's claim that whether the taxpayer was an insurance company is an important distinction in Determination 88-311A is simply false.

Moreover, as noted above, this is not the first time that the Department has litigated whether the exemption is limited to insurance companies that pay premiums tax. In the early 1990s, the Department assessed an insurance company affiliate on the ground that the exemption was limited to insurance companies that paid premiums tax. CP 361 (*Factory Mutual*, Slip Op. at 8). The taxpayer challenged the assessment, and the Court of Appeals ruled in favor of the taxpayer, rejecting the Department's argument that the exemption was limited to insurance companies that pay premiums tax. CP 365 (*Factory Mutual*, Slip Op. at 12). The Court of Appeals also held that

activities such as claims investigation, defending claims, and making payments "are all part of the 'insurance business." CP 362 (*Factory Mutual*, Slip Op. at 9). The Department petitioned for review of the *Factory Mutual* Court of Appeals decision, and this Court denied review. *See Factory Mutual Eng'g Ass'n v. Dep't of Revenue*, 123 Wn.2d 1017, 871 P.2d 600 (1994) (denying review).

While Factory Mutual was an unpublished decision, the Department's administration of the statute was consistent with the holding in Factory Mutual for decades—until its attempt to relitigate the issue in this case. Therefore, the Department's claim that the Court of Appeals' Opinion represents a radical expansion of the exemption warranting review by this Court is without merit.

#### B. No Conflict Exists with a Decision of This Court

RAP 13.4(b)(1) requires a showing of an actual conflict between the Court of Appeals' Opinion and a decision of this Court. *Cf. Buchsieb/Dandard, Inc. v. Skagit Cty*, 99 Wn.2d 577,

580, 663 P.2d 487 (1983) (granting discretionary review to determine whether Court of Appeals decision conflicted with Supreme Court decision). No such conflict exists.

## 1. The Opinion does not conflict with the holding in *Armstrong*.

The Department's petition fails to identify any actual conflict between the Opinion and this Court's decision in *Armstrong. See* Pet. at 17-19. That is because no such conflict exists. The only holding in *Armstrong* was that the proviso expressly excluding independent insurance agents from the scope of the "insurance business" exemption did not violate equal protection clauses of the state and federal constitutions. *Armstrong*, 61 Wn.2d at 121. In upholding the proviso, the Court stated:

The legislative decision to consider the gross premium tax the exclusive tax on insurance company operations ... does not mean that it is necessary to grant an exemption to general agents who are in business for themselves.

See Pet. at 18 (citing Armstrong, 61 Wn.2d at 121-22).

The Department argues that this statement somehow conflicts with the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the statute does not require the person claiming the exemption to have paid the tax on insurance premiums. Pet. at 17-19. But the *Armstrong* Court's statement is a straight-forward acknowledgment that the Legislature had sufficient grounds to tax independent agents selling insurance policies differently from the insurance companies themselves. As the Court of Appeals correctly observed, the holding in *Armstrong* provides no insight into the precise scope of the term "insurance business on which a tax based on gross premiums is paid to the state." Op. at 15.

Moreover, the proviso at issue in *Armstrong* would be redundant and superfluous if insurance agents and brokers—who are not insurance companies and do not pay premiums tax—did not fall within the scope of the exemption in the first place. *See Tyler Pipe Indus., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 96 Wn.2d 785, 788, 638 P.2d 1213 (1982) ("It is a well-established principle of statutory construction that provisos and exceptions remove

something from the enacting clause that would otherwise be contained therein.") The Opinion presents no actual conflict with the holding in *Armstrong*.

## 2. The Opinion is consistent with the "underlying principle" of Washington Sav-Mor Oil and Rena-Ware.

The Department also asserts that the Opinion conflicts with "the underlying principle of Washington Sav-Mor Oil, Rena-Ware, etc." Pet. At 25 (italics in original). Those cases merely stand for the long-established principle that each entity is separately classified under Washington tax law based on the entity's business activities, and taxpayers cannot pierce the corporate veil to avoid tax. Washington Sav-Mor Oil Co. v. Tax Commission, 58 Wn.2d 518, 523, 364 P.2d 440 (1961) ("The appellant asks us to disregard its separate existence, not in order to prevent fraud or injustice, but in order to gain advantage. This we cannot do."); Ren-Ware Distributors, Inc. v. State, 77 Wn.2d 514, 518, 463 P.2d 622 (1970) ("For purposes of the taxing statutes, [the related companies] are separate entities. Mere

common ownership of stock, the same officers, employees, etc., does not justify disregarding the separate corporate identities unless a fraud is being worked upon a third person."). Envolve has never sought to disregard its corporate structure, and the Court of Appeals' Opinion does not do so, either.

As discussed above, the Court of Appeals' Opinion was based on the application of the statute to Envolve's activities, not its affiliate, as the Department claims. Op. at 14. Therefore, the Opinion is consistent with the underlying principle in *Sav-Mor Oil* and *Rena-Ware* that each entity is a separate taxpayer, even if owned by a common parent. *Id.* Accordingly, there is no conflict with these decision warranting review.

### 3. This Court's decision in *Supply Laundry* has no relation to the issues in this case.

Contrary to the Department's assertion, this Court's decision in *Supply Laundry Co. v. Jenner*, 178 Wash. 72, 34 P.2d 363 (1934), has no relationship to the issues presented in this case. *Supply Laundry* involved an equal protection challenge to a different B&O tax that was in place in 1933, prior to

Washington's current B&O tax, which was adopted in 1935. See Supply Laundry, 178 Wash. at 75. The taxpayers also asserted "that taxing an insurance agent is equivalent to double taxation of insurance premiums, and therefore unlawful." Id. at 77. This Court held that double taxation is not necessarily unlawful, as there is no constitutional prohibition against it in Washington. Id. at 79. However, the Court went on to note: "While the Legislature may take that element into consideration in differentiating between classes of individuals, it may also disregard it in cases where, in its judgment, other considerations outweigh it." Id.

The Department uses *Supply Laundry* to contend that the "Legislature is the proper body to consider policy arguments like a perceived 'double taxation' of HMOs and their affiliates." Pet. at 27. But Envolve has never argued the unfairness of double taxation in this case. Rather, it has only asked the courts to apply RCW 82.04.320 as the Legislature wrote it—which both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals have done. Moreover,

the Department's argument highlights that it was the Legislature that made the policy choice regarding exemption of "insurance business upon which a tax based on gross premiums is paid" through its wording of the statute, not the Court of Appeals. This is reinforced by the fact that the Legislature did not act to refute the Department's long-standing application of the exemption to affiliates performing insurance business activities on which premiums tax was paid, despite having nearly 30 years to do so. See In re Lloyd's Estate, 53 Wn.2d 196, 199, 332 P.2d 44 (1958) ("The tax commission has interpreted the pertinent statutes in a consistent manner for twenty-three years. We believe that it is significant that during that time the Legislature has not amended the statute but in effect has acquiesced in the administration of it by the tax commission.").

The Court of Appeals' reading of the statute was not based on a finding that double taxation violated the Washington Constitution. Op. at 13. As such, there is no conflict with this

Court's holding in *Supply Laundry*. Accordingly, this case does not present any grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

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